#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

08-27-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP968-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs.-

GIANCARLO GIACOMANTONIO,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FILED ON OCTOBER 31, 2014, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING. MILWAUKEE COUNTY CASE NO. 2013CF4178

## DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX

Respectfully submitted:

Michael G. Levine, SBN 1050078 Matthew S. Pinix, SBN 1064368\*

LAW OFFICES OF ROBERT A. LEVINE
111 E. Wisconsin Ave., Ste. 1710
Milwaukee, WI 53202
Tel.: (414) 271-9585
Fax: (414) 271-8506
mlevine@rlevinelaw.com

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY ADMITTED TEXT MESSAGE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL BY:

(1) NOT REQUIRING PROOF OF AUTHORSHIP UPON A CHALLENGE TO AUTHENTICITY, (2) NOT REQUIRING THE ORIGINAL WRITING WHEN A BEST-EVIDENCE CHALLENGE WAS MADE, AND (3) ALLOWING WITNESSES TO TESTIFY OVER A HEARSAY OBJECTION ABOUT THE CONTENT OF TEXT MESSAGES THAT HE HAD READ AT THE POLICE STATION?

The State admitted into evidence photographs of text messages that were allegedly sent by Giacomantonio to his stepdaughter. Both prior to and during trial, Giacomantonio objected on the ground that the State could not prove the messages' author, and thus could not authenticate them. Additionally, Giacomantonio objected to the photographs as a violation of the best-evidence rule because they were duplicates, not the original writing. See Wis. Stat. § 910.02. Finally, Giacomantonio objected on hearsay grounds when a witness was asked to describe to the jury what the text messages read.

The circuit court denied each of Giacomantonio's challenges to the text message evidence. It reasoned, first, that authorship went to weight not admissibility. Second, the court determined that the State did not have to produce the originals because they were destroyed. Finally, the court ruled that the detective's testimony about the contents of the text messages was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF GIACOMANTONIO'S PRETRIAL REQUEST FOR A PRELIMINARY, IN CAMERA REVIEW OF THE VICTIM'S PSYCHOLOGICAL TREATMENT RECORDS VIOLATED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE?

Giacomantonio filed a pretrial motion seeking an in camera review of his stepdaughter's privately held medical records. The circuit court denied that motion, concluding that he had not satisfied his burden to show that those records would contain noncumulative, relevant information necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Giacomantonio would welcome oral argument if it would assist the panel to understand the issues presented or answer any unanswered questions that may arise, unbeknownst to counsel, during the panel's review of the briefing.

Giacomantonio believes the Court's opinion in the instant case will meet the criteria for publication because it addresses a matter of first impression in Wisconsin that is bound to recur in the future. Specifically, the instant appeal questions what is required to authenticate text-message evidence under Wisconsin's evidentiary code, Wis. Stat. § 909.01. That issue has not before been decided in Wisconsin. Furthermore, given the ubiquity of text messaging in our society and the regular occurrence of such evidence in trials of all sorts, the issue of authentication is likely to occur again. Thus, a decision from this Court would assist bench and bar alike to understand what is necessary to ensure authentication—and admissibility—of text message evidence. Publication is therefore requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. NATURE, PROCEDURAL STATUS, AND DISPOSITION BELOW

The State charged Giacomantonio with sexual exploitation of a child, Wis. Stat. § 948.05(1)(a) and (2p)(a), and incest with a child, Wis. Stat. § 948.06(1m), alleging that he had engaged in a variety of criminal sexual acts with his minor stepdaughter, K.N.R., from December 2, 2012, to September 6, 2013. (2.)

Pretrial, Giacomantonio moved for an in camera review of the K.N.R.'s counseling records. (6, 7, A-Ap. 3-9.) The circuit court denied that motion (10, A-Ap. 32), and Giacomantonio petitioned this Court for leave to appeal (11). That petition was denied. *See State v. Giacomantonio*, No. 2014AP11-CRLV, slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2014).

Thereafter, Giacomantonio filed a pretrial motion seeking to exclude from evidence certain text messages found on K.N.R.'s cellphone. (20, A-Ap. 33-37.) The circuit court denied that motion, as well. (44:12.)

At trial, Giacomantonio again objected to the text message evidence. (48:25-26, *id*.:51-54.) Those objections were overruled. (*Id*.) The jury found him not guilty of incest and guilty of sexual exploitation. (26, 27.) He was sentenced to eight years of imprisonment, with five years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision. (52:12.) He appeals. (36.)

#### II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

During the period of time relevant to this appeal, Giacomantonio was married to M.R. (48:55.) They had then been married for twelve years. (*Id.*:56.) However, by 2013, their relationship had deteriorated. (*Id.*) M.R. questioned why Giacomantonio—a non-

citizen—had not paid her to get married. (*Id*.:66-67.) She accused him of poisoning her food with antifreeze. (*Id*.:64-65.) She claimed that he was violent with her, but never reported it to police. (*Id*.:63-64.) The couple no longer shared a bedroom. (*Id*.:56-57.) Because of all that, M.R. kept trying to make Giacomantonio leave her house, but he had nowhere to go. (*Id*.:60, 64.) So, she exiled him to the basement, allowing him to return to the spare room only when it got too cold. (*Id*.:60.) But still, M.R. said, he would not leave. (*Id*.:64.) Prior to the allegations that began Giacomantonio's criminal prosecution, M.R. discussed with her daughter, K.N.R., how they could go about "getting [him] out of the house," including possibly "get[ting] a restraining order." (49:29-32.)

It was against that background that M.R. appeared at the Whitefish Bay police department in September 2013 and alleged that Giacomantonio was involved in an inappropriate relationship with K.N.R. who was then sixteen-years-old. (48:60-61.) M.R. said that K.N.R.'s therapist had encouraged her to go to the police. (*Id.*:36-37.)

She then presented police with a cellphone and alleged that it contained "some alarming texts." (Id.:4, 57-58.) The phone, she said, belonged to K.N.R. (*Id.*:5.) M.R. admitted that she "had gone through [K.N.R.'s] phone" (id.:60) before arriving at the police station "had she a lot of suspicions because [Giacomantonio] had been . . . sexually abusing [K.N.R.]" (id.:58). It was undisputed that M.R. had access to the phone's entire contents because "[t]he phone did not have a lock." (Id.59.) She later claimed that her unfettered access to the phone allowed her to find text messages confirming her suspicions about Giacomantonio; namely that he was engaged in an inappropriate relationship with K.N.R. (*Id.*:57-58.)

#### A. The Text-Message Evidence is Entered Over Giacomantonio's Objection.

In response to M.R.'s allegations, a detective searched K.N.R.'s phone at the station. (*Id*.:24-25.) He did not take any precautions to protect the integrity of phone's data (id.:42-45), which is commonly done by forensic examiners to ensure that no data is "manipulate[d], destroy[ed], or los[t]" (47:68-69). The detective's search located "text messages in the phone as described by [M.R.] from [Giacomantonio]'s cell phone number, which she gave us, to [K.N.R.]'s cell phone. Which is what we had in possession. With a text saying 'I want my boty [sic.]." (48:25-26, A-Ap. 49-50.) A later search of the phone by the same detective located additional text messages. (Id.:26, A-Ap. 50.) Again, during that second search, no precautions were taken to ensure the data's integrity. (Id.:42-45.) The State's computer expert testified that the failure to follow forensic procedures when examining the cell phone could have resulted in changes to its data. (47:58, *id*.:74-75.)

The police later attempted to obtain records from the phone company showing the text messages sent from or received by K.N.R.'s phone. (48:42.) However, no such records existed. (Id.) Thus, the detective took photographs of the phone's screen while it displayed what the police deemed to be noteworthy text messages. (Id.:26, A-Ap. 50.) Seven of those photographs were entered into evidence as two separate exhibits at trial. (*Id*.:26, 49:77, 56, A-Ap. 50.) On direct examination, the detective identified the photographs, and then read to the jury the depicted However, text messages. the detective attributed authorship to any of the text messages found in the photos. (48:27-28, A-Ap. 51-52.) Instead, he simply identified the phone numbers associated with each text message. (Id.) At no time during the trial did the State present records showing each phone number's registered user.

Pretrial, Giacomantonio had sought exclusion of those text messages on the ground that they could not be properly authenticated. (20, A-Ap. 33-37.) He argued that merely identifying a person as the registered owner of a phone from which text messages were sent does not satisfy Wisconsin's authentication requirement. (*Id.*) In light of that challenge to the texts' authenticity, Giacomantonio additionally argued that the rules of evidence required the State to produce the original text messages, not copies thereof. (*Id.*)

The State responded that it could properly authenticate the texts by "calling [K.N.R.] who [could] testify that she received these text messages, the phone number she recognizes they come from is [Giacomantonio's], and ultimately if the defense says that somebody else stole his phone or something and he didn't send them, I think that goes to weight." (44:7, A-Ap. 40.) As for the need to produce the original writings, the State claimed that the originals were no longer available because the phone company did not keep records of texts; the photographs would have to suffice. (Id.:8-9, A-Ap. 41-42.) The State did not inform the court of its possession of the cell phone that was depicted in the photographs. Nor did the State allege that the cell phone was inoperable or unavailable to present the texts to the jury.

The circuit court denied Giacomantonio's motion. (*Id*.:12, A-Ap. 45.) To the circuit court, the ease with which "people can make fake facebook postings, [or] send emails under somebody else's name" actually weighed against Giacomantonio's authentication claim. (*Id*.:11-12, A-Ap. 44-45.) The circuit court concluded that authentication was not an issue because Giacomantonio was "certainly entitled to cross examine" the witnesses regarding whether "the

victim or another has falsely manufactured these text conversations." (*Id.*:12, A-Ap. 45.) No mention was made of the rule that authentication is a prerequisite to admissibility. See Wis. Stat. § 909.01; (see also 44:11-12, A-Ap. 44-45.)

As for the need to produce the original writing, the circuit court "accept[ed] [the prosecutor]'s word as an officer of the court that those -- and [defense counsel's] . . . seem[ing] . . . agree[ment] that the originals of those conversations are not available from the provider of the -- or the telephonic communications." (*Id*.:10, A-Ap. 43.) Thus, the State could rely on the photographs instead of the originals. (*Id*.)

At trial, when the detective started to tell the jury about a text message that he had read when searching K.N.R.'s phone, Giacomantonio again objected. (48:25, A-Ap. 49.) He argued that the detective's testimony about what he read in the text message while at the police station constituted hearsay. (*Id.*) In response, the prosecutor claimed that the testimony was "not hearsay. It's not being offered for the truth of the matter." (*Id.*) The circuit court overruled Giacomantonio's objection. (*Id.*)

When the State questioned the detective about the pictures he took of the text messages—which were eventually entered as Exhibits 8 and 9 (56, A-Ap. 47-48)—Giacomantonio renewed the objections that he had made pretrial regarding authenticity and the need to produce an original. The parties' sidebar discussion and the circuit court's ruling was later summarized for the record:

THE COURT: Just quickly. There was a sidebar. And apparently based upon the conversations that took place about the text messages, apparently that was decided by Judge Rothstein, that issue.

Does someone want to elaborate?

[PROSECUTOR]: My recollection is what was displayed in front of the jury here today were seven screen shots taken from -- by Detective McLeod from the phone which is marked Exhibit 6.

Previous to this Court taking the case, there had been a motion that these screen shots — just don't take — don't encapsulate everything that's on the phone. And that's true. They're just images here.

Judge Rothstein ruled that, in spite of that, they can be admissible. If defense wants to present other images, they can do so.

Obviously, there's an issue that somebody else sent these using a phone. That really goes to credibility, which is ultimately what this case is going to boil down to.

And so Judge Rothstein ruled that those images, the screen shots are admissible.

Defense can explore the fact that Detective McLeod just took specific pictures, didn't take full pictures of everything.

I would note that Detective McLeod did go through that Exhibit 6 completely, in fact, with [defense counsel]. And that was videotaped. That was all turned over.

So it ultimately goes to weight that somebody else sent these pictures. Is M[.R.] telling the truth. Did she do it. That's a matter for the jury. Who do you believe. And that's what we're getting into.

So that was the [S]tate's view of why, first, this issue has been already addressed and why these should come in. And ultimately goes to weight.

The jury might decide that, for reasons that are going to probably be explored with the next two witnesses, they made all this up and planted this evidence. But that's where we are.

THE COURT: Okay.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Judge, I objected first on the grounds of hearsay when they first were trying to get in the content of those messages. They said that they weren't offered for the truth of the matter asserted.

I highly disagree. I think that's exactly what they were offered for. But despite that, they haven't been authenticated.

And the thing about text messages is it requires more than matching the registered owner of the phone number and phone number that the messages came from.

It requires circumstantial evidence that tends to corroborate the identity of the sender. That was not done in this case.

#### Additionally –

THE COURT: Well, actually that's not done in any case, quite frankly, the cases that this Court has seen. You've got a phone. But we don't know who enters the information on that phone.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Well -- and, Judge, this area of the law is certainly developing with technology as it goes. There is not a case specifically on point out of Wisconsin. But there is a case out of Pennsylvania, which is Commonwealth v. Koch, K-O-C-H. And that cite is --

THE COURT: Was that cited to Judge Rothstein?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: It was.

THE COURT: So then she must have ruled on it.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: She did. But specifically, with respect to Wisconsin Statute 910.02, it states to prove the content of a writing, recording or photograph, the original writing, recording or photograph is required except otherwise provided.

And so most courts have held at least a transcription or a transcript of the text messages is required. Here, we're just given piecemeal. We're given seven months of text messages. And it's not – it doesn't show that it wasn't changed, unchanged. It's electronics. So things can be altered.

THE COURT: I think you brought that in on cross-examination. And based upon the Court's ruling, apparently Judge Rothstein has dealt with most of the objections that were made.

And the Court will believe also that that goes to the weight of evidence. The Court allowed it in.

Okay.

(48:51-54, A-Ap. 54-57.) In light of that ruling, the detective testified about the screenshots as detailed above.

When the detective testified about the text messages, no evidence had been offered connecting a specific phone number to a specific phone or to a specific person. (See 48:27-28, A-Ap. 51-52.) There had been some testimony from a police officer that M.R. had said that the phone containing the text messages belonged to K.N.R., but no witness had testified directly to ownership or exclusive use. (See id.:5.) There was absolutely no evidence at that time connecting any telephone numbers to any person. (See id.:27-28, A-Ap. 51-52.)

The State did not elicit testimony connecting telephone numbers to specific people until K.N.R. testified much later in the trial. (48:86-87.) By referencing Exhibit 8, K.N.R. was able to identify "[her] phone number" and "[Giacomantonio's] phone number." (*Id.*:86-88.)

When the State went through the contents of Exhibits 8 and 9 with K.N.R., she identified each text as being to or from a certain phone number. (*Id.*:88-

92.) She admitted sending only one of the text messages (id.:91-92), and she never testified that Giacomantonio had sent the other texts (see id.:88-92). Instead, she limited her testimony to stating that the other text messages had come from Giacomantonio's phone number or his phone. (Id.) K.N.R. stated that Giacomantonio would "oftentimes" text her "to go to his room late at night," and that "he sent [text messages] all the time" about her "booty." (Id.) However, the prosecutor never asked and K.N.R. never testified that she knew or believed that Giacomantonio had sent the other texts in Exhibits 8 and 9. (Id.)

K.N.R. also admitted that she would use Giacomantonio's phone on certain occasions. (49:7, id.:24, id.:29.) And sometimes, she said, she would allow her cousin to use her phone. (Id.:58.) On other occasions, M.R. would take K.N.R.'s phone from her as punishment. (Id.:86.) And M.R. had access to K.N.R.'s phone for some undisclosed period of time prior to delivering it to the police station. (48:57-58.) Thus, the evidence at trial did not demonstrate any single person's exclusive use of the phones or phone numbers that K.N.R. identified as belonging to her and Giacomantonio.

In closing, the parties argued about the impact of the text messages on the State's case. The prosecutor argued that the text messages helped to prove Giacomantonio's guilt. He told the jury:

Those text messages are the crimes. But there's text messages that include "I want my booty." They can interpreted different ways. Maybe it's nothing. But what it led to was pictures. And as she said when she wrote that statement, he referred to my buttocks and my vagina as my booty.

(50:22.)

Defense counsel, on the other hand, disputed the "seven text messages" as being offered to the jury "completely out of context. We didn't see what came before. We didn't see what came after it." (Id.:27.) The credibility of the text messages was suspect, argued defense counsel, because "M[.R.] accessed the phone" on which the text messages were found; "[s]he changed the data" and no one "kn[e]w how many messages [she] deleted." (Id.:30.) Additionally, no one "kn[e]w how many messages [K.N.R.] deleted." (Id.) As for the phone that had been attributed to Giacomantonio, defense counsel challenged the State's failure to present "subscriber data" connecting Giacomantonio to the "actual device." (Id.) He also attacked K.N.R. as "not a little kid," but rather as a "smart" and "manipulati[ve]" seventeen-year-old. (Id.:24.) K.N.R.'s relationship with Giacomantonio had strained, said counsel, and she had fabricated a story with her mother by which to get him out of the house. The State, argued Giacomantonio, had "bought" that story "hook, line[,] and sinker." (Id.:34.)

In rebuttal, the prosecutor asked the jury to consider "who was manipulating whom and who was in control." (*Id.*:53.) It was Giacomantonio, said the prosecutor, who had manipulated and induced K.N.R. to send him illicit pictures. (*Id.*) The State's closing and rebuttal arguments were the culmination of its running theme that Giacomantonio used K.N.R.'s mental health and interpersonal relationships to his advantage. (*See id.*:18.) Giacomantonio had, pretrial, sought an in camera review of K.N.R.'s medical records for evidence specifically related to both K.N.R.'s mental health and her interpersonal relationships. (7, A-Ap. 3-9.) But, his motion was denied. (10, A-Ap. 32.)

# B. The Circuit Court Refused Giacomantonio Pretrial Access to K.N.R.'s Psychological Treatment Records.

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