RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

11-11-2015

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP968-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GIANCARLO GIACOMANTONIO,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY WAGNER, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-8118 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

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

Accordingly, the circuit court soundly exercised its discretion in overruling Giacomantonio's hearsay objections.

D. Any error in admitting the content of the text messages was harmless.

Because the court properly found that the text messages were admissible, this court need not consider whether the error was harmless. But if this court deems that any of Giacomantonio's arguments above should have resulted in the exclusion of the text messages entirely,⁸ the State briefly addresses harmless error below.

- 15 -

-

⁸ It is not apparent that the circuit court would have excluded the messages if Giacomantonio's arguments were persuasive. Had the circuit court agreed with Giacomantonio's authentication argument, the State may have (continued on next page)

Even if the court erroneously exercised its discretion in deeming evidence of the text messages' content inadmissible, this court may not reverse "unless an examination of the entire proceeding reveals that the admission of the evidence has 'affected the substantial rights' of the party seeking the reversal. *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 368, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999) (quoting Wis. Stat. § 805.18(2)) (footnote omitted). In order to support reversal, there must be a "'reasonable probability that, but for . . . [the] errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 369 (quoting *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694-95 (1984)).

The State used the text messages primarily to support the incest charge, which again, resulted in an acquittal. K.R., in her testimony, read the text messages and identified the phone numbers as being hers and Giacomantonio's (48:86-88; A-Ap. 58-60). She stated that she remembered Giacomantonio "oftentimes texting me, telling me to like go to his room late at night. And I'd try to come up with any excuse not to do so I wouldn't have to" (48:89; A-Ap. 61). Giacomantonio said "I want your booty" to K.R. "all the time," which she understood to mean that he wanted to either "grab my butt, or lick it, or do something of that sort" (48:89-90; A-Ap. 61-62). But given that the jury acquitted Giacomantonio of the incest charge, the text messages certainly were harmless in that respect.

nevertheless authenticated the messages through other evidence. Had Giacomantonio raised the best-evidence claims and the court agreed, the State may have successfully presented the messages through K.R.'s phone. Moreover, even if McLeod's testimony was hearsay, K.R. testified as the recipient of those messages to their content and their content was entered into evidence as exhibits; hence, his reading the text messages was simply cumulative to K.R.'s.

The State also used the texts to counter Giacomantonio's defense that M.R. and K.R. had fabricated the allegations to get him out of their lives. The texts were the basis for M.R.'s initial report to law enforcement about her suspicions and law enforcement's initiation of the investigation that eventually led to K.R.'s claims and the discovery of the images supporting the exploitation count.

But the texts cannot have figured significantly into the jury's conviction on the exploitation count. To prove that count, the State relied primarily on (1) the images themselves, which police found on K.R.'s phone and the SD card of Giacomantonio's phone (see 47:54-55, 66) and (2) K.R.'s testimony that Giacomantonio induced her to take and send him the photos through emotional abuse, i.e., granting her leniency and favors when she agreed to send him photos, and curtailing her freedom and withdrawing emotional support when she refused (see 49:6, 13, 20-21). K.R. testified that typically she would give in to Giacomantonio's requests by taking photos with her phone and texting them to him, or by taking his phone at his request, taking photos, and returning the phone to him (49:24).

Consistently with that, the State in closing repeatedly emphasized the photos, their humiliating nature, and K.R.'s testimony that Giacomantonio used emotional blackmail to get them from K.R. (50:19-20) To be sure, the State briefly mentioned that the text messages "led to . . . pictures," but it acknowledged that the messages themselves could be "interpreted [in] different ways. Maybe it's nothing" (50:22).

And that equivocal approach was about as far as the State could go in using the text messages to support the exploitation count. The messages' content—which involved Giacomantonio's telling K.R. to "come to his room" late at night, K.R's. refusing, and Giacomantonio's stating that he wanted "his booty"—supported an inference that

Giacomantonio engaged in concerning and inappropriate text messaging with K.R. It did not support the inference that Giacomantonio had induced K.R. into sending pictures to him. K.R. did not testify that Giacomantonio routinely (or ever) took pictures of her late at night or in his room, or that the message conversations had anything to do with Giacomantonio requesting images. Again, K.R. stated that the texts were about Giacomantonio's wanting her to come to his room so that he could touch her (48:86-91; A-Ap. 58-63).

In all, there is no reasonable likelihood that the text messages factored significantly into jury's finding of guilt on the exploitation count. Giacomantonio is not entitled to relief based on the court's admission of the text messages.

II. The circuit court properly denied Giacomantonio's motion for in camera review of K.R.'s treatment records.

Giacomantonio next argues that the circuit court erred in denying his request for in camera review of K.R.'s treatment records from therapy she received during the period that she had alleged that Giacomantonio had committed the crimes. For the reasons below, the circuit court correctly denied his motion.

A. To establish a right to in camera review of privileged records, a defendant must show a "reasonable likelihood" that the records will be necessary to the jury's determination.

In *State v. Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 608, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993), this court held that a defendant may establish a constitutional right to in camera review of a victim's privileged private therapy records by making a preliminary showing that the records are material to the defense.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court clarified in *State v. Green*, 2002 WI 68, 253 Wis. 2d 356, 646 N.W.2d 298, what a defendant

must demonstrate to establish a constitutional right to in camera review of privileged therapy records. It rejected language in *Shiffra* allowing in camera review whenever evidence is "relevant and may be helpful to the defense." *Id.* ¶25 (citation omitted). It held that "a defendant must show a 'reasonable likelihood' that the records will be necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence." *Id.* ¶32.

To make that showing, "a defendant must set forth a fact-specific evidentiary showing, describing as precisely as possible the information sought from the records and how it is relevant to and supports his or her particular defense." *Id.* ¶¶33, 35. A showing for in camera review must be based on more than "mere speculation or conjecture as to what information is in the records" or a "mere contention that the victim has been involved in counseling related to prior sexual assaults or the current sexual assault." *Id.* ¶33. Further, the evidence sought "must not be merely cumulative to evidence already available to the defendant." *Id.* "A defendant must show more than a mere possibility that the records will contain evidence that may be helpful or useful to the defense." *Id.* (citing *State v. Munoz*, 200 Wis. 2d 391, 397-98, 546 N.W.2d 570 (Ct. App. 1996)).

We conclude that the information will be "necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence" if it "tends to create a reasonable doubt that might not otherwise exist." This test essentially requires the court to look at the existing evidence in light of the request and determine . . . whether the records will likely contain evidence that is independently probative to the defense.

Id. ¶34 (citation omitted).

Whether a defendant established a constitutional right to in camera review of privileged therapy records is a legal question. *Green*, 253 Wis. 2d 356, ¶19. This court accepts the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous but independently reviews whether a defendant made the constitutional showing. *Id.* Finally, any error by the court in

denying in camera review is subject to a harmless error analysis. *See id.* ¶20 (stating that defendant must show that error in denying in camera review is not harmless).

B. The circuit court correctly concluded that the information that Giacomantonio believed may be in the records was cumulative to information he knew or could discover independently of the records.

In his circuit court memorandum requesting *in camera* review, Giacomantonio stated the following:

- 1. K.R. "has seen a therapist on multiple occasions to discuss issues relating to her interpersonal relationships within her family, issues of depression as well as suicidal tendencies" (7:1; A-Ap. 4).
- 2. "[T]hese counseling sessions occurred during the time period from before these alleged incidents occurred until it was reported many months later" (*id.*).

Based on those points, Giacomantonio alleged that "[t]here is a reasonable likelihood that the records relating to [K.R.'s] therapy contain exculpatory information necessary for a proper defense" (*id.*). He wrote that the records would likely demonstrate (1) that K.R. discussed her relationships with Giacomantonio and her mother, her depression, her suicidal thoughts, and (2) that K.R. "either denied or did not disclose to her therapist any sexual contact with, or abuse by, Giacomantonio" (7:1-2; A-Ap. 4-5).

The State opposed the motion, arguing that Giacomantonio failed to satisfy his burden because he was simply arguing that the records could show that K.R. denied or did not disclose Giacomantonio's abuse to the therapist (8; A-Ap. 10). The circuit court agreed and denied the motion in a hearing (41; A-Ap. 14).

The court first explained that it reviewed the relevant case law and the pleading requirements for in camera review, and highlighted the requirement that the evidence not be cumulative to other evidence available to the defendant (41:11-12; A-Ap. 24-25). It observed that Giacomantonio was aware that K.R. had attempted suicide in the past; that she was dating Paige, another minor; and that K.R. had allegedly lied to M.R. about that relationship (41:13; A-Ap. 26). It stated that Giacomantonio was independently aware of the information he was alleging that the records might contain that could impugn K.R.'s credibility where he had "other avenues by which to pursue the facts, as he alleges them to be" (41:14; A-Ap. 27). It concluded that Giacomantonio failed to satisfy his burden for in camera review (41:15; A-Ap. 28).

The circuit court's conclusion was correct. Under *Green*, "the evidence sought from the records must not be merely cumulative to evidence already available to the defendant." 253 Wis. 2d 356, ¶33. Here, Giacomantonio conceded at the hearing that he had "personal knowledge of those things [K.R.'s suicide attempt, her relationship with Paige, and her lying to M.R.] independent of the counseling records" (41:7-8; A-Ap. 20-21). Given that alone, the circuit court did not err in concluding that Giacomantonio did not satisfy his burden.

Moreover, to the extent that Giacomantonio sought information confirming that K.R. never told her therapist about his abuse, he was able to get that information and assert that defense simply by asking K.R. whether she ever disclosed the abuse. He also could bring out that the therapist, as a mandatory reporter, would have reported K.R.'s claims to police had K.R. said anything, and that there did not appear to be any such reports from the therapist. Indeed, as discussed in part II.C, *infra*, K.R. stated that she never told her therapist about the abuse and the jury learned that K.R.'s therapist was a mandatory reporter.

Ultimately, both of Giacomantonio's reasons for seeking review of the records were to obtain evidence that K.R. was providing inconsistent statements. To do that, a defendant must show, through other evidence, that the records will "tend to prove that [the victim] has a psychological disorder that would make her a poor reporter of events relating to sexual conduct or draw her credibility into question in any way." *In re Jessica J.L.*, 223 Wis. 2d 622, 635, 589 N.W.2d 660 (Ct. App. 1998).

Here, Giacomantonio presented nothing to suggest that K.R. suffered from a psychological condition that compromised either her ability to accurately report sexual events or her credibility generally. Compare id. (no entitlement to in camera review where allegations lacked claim that victim had "a psychological disorder that would make her a poor reporter of events relating to sexual conduct or draw her credibility into question in any way"); and Munoz, 200 Wis. 2d at 399 (no entitlement to in camera review when Munoz offered nothing to suggest that the victim suffered from a psychological disorder causing her to experience "reality problems in sexual matters") (internal citation and quotation marks omitted); with Shiffra, 175 Wis. 2d at 603 (post-traumatic stress disorder in the victim could allow her to view past sexual encounters as nonconsensual when they were consensual); and State v. Robertson, 2003 WI App 84, ¶¶9-10, 263 Wis. 2d 349, 661 N.W.2d 105 (depression with psychotic features that had elevated before the alleged sexual assault could explain victim's belief that sexual encounter was an assault).

Appropriately, the circuit court denied in camera review. Giacomantonio is not entitled to relief.

- C. Giacomantonio's arguments that he satisfied the "reasonable likelihood" standard and that he was prejudiced by the court's ruling are meritless.
 - 1. Speese I and II do not compel a different result.

Giacomantonio argues that in *State v. Speese*, 191 Wis. 2d 205, 223, 528 N.W.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1995) (*Speese I*), *rev'd on harmless error grounds*, 199 Wis. 2d 597 (1996) (*Speese II*), this court concluded that Speese's pleading based on the victim's delayed reporting while she attended treatment by a mandatory reporter was sufficient to trigger in camera review of her treatment files, and that this court should follow suit.

But the *Speese* decisions are unhelpful to Giacomantonio in at least two respects. First, in *Speese I*, this court concluded that Speese's claim that access to the victim's treatment records "may be necessary to a fair determination of Speese's guilt or innocence" because the victim was in therapy when the alleged abuse occurred and seemingly did not tell her treatment providers about it, given that they were mandatory reporters and never reported abuse. 191 Wis. 2d at 224 (emphasis added).

But this court decided (and the supreme court reversed) *Speese I* years before the supreme court in *Green* bolstered *Shiffra*'s pleading standards from "may be necessary" to a "reasonable likelihood" that the records are necessary. *See Green*, 253 Wis. 2d 356, ¶32 (internal quotation marks omitted). Accordingly, Wisconsin courts have not resolved whether a defendant's allegation that records may show that the victim did not report contemporaneous abuse to a mandatory reporter is enough to compel in camera review under the "reasonable likelihood" standard in *Green. See, e.g., State v. Lynch*, 2015 WI App 2, ¶33, 359 Wis. 2d 482, 859 N.W.2d 125 (declining to reach argument that delayed reporting by victims should not compel in camera review).

Second, Giacomantonio cannot demonstrate prejudice because the jury was well aware, even without the medical records, that K.R. did not disclose Giacomantonio's abuse or exploitative behavior to her therapist. *See Speese II*, 199 Wis. 2d at 604-05 (reversing on harmless error grounds and concluding that evidence that the victim did not tell her therapist of abuse would have been redundant to evidence from police that she did not initially report abuse and from the victim herself acknowledging that she delayed reporting the abuse).

At trial, the jury heard that K.R. was in counseling beginning with her December 2012 suicide attempt through the allegations in September 2013 (48:58). Detective McLeod explained that under mandatory reporting laws, if a therapist had learned that Giacomantonio was engaging in sexual misconduct with K.R., the therapist would have been required to report it (48:36). McLeod stated that he was not aware of any complaints against Giacomantonio beyond those raised by M.R. (48:36-37).

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